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�
ABSTRACT








An archaeological investigation of site ‘R’ on the corner of Capworth Street and Leyton High Road, London E10 took place in advance of development between 10th July 1995 and 15th September 1995.





The archaeological evaluation included a photogrammetry survey, a photographic survey, a watching brief during demolition, recording of the ground plan post-demolition, and the excavation of two test-pits within the property boundary of the Essex Builders Merchants, at 789 High Road, Leyton. The evaluation revealed a mid-eighteenth century house standing within it’s original property boundary and preserving stratified deposits dating back to the medieval period. 





Further work, included a rescue excavation within the parameters of the house and a watching-brief over the whole site, took place during the reduction of the ground to formation level and the excavation of post-pad pits. This revealed the existence of stratified deposits in the northern part of the site while the area to the south was seen to be barren of archaeology because of the truncation by twentieth century construction. The rescue excavation discovered part of a timber framed building as well as agricultural activity dated to the medieval period.


�
SITE INTRODUCTION








Newham Museum Service was commissioned by Hunting Gate Project Management Ltd. to undertake an archaeological evaluation of site 'R' in advance of redevelopment. Site 'R' consists of the Essex Builders Merchants hence forth known as the woodstore at 789 High Street, Leyton, a warehouse to the north, an electricity building to the south, and a triangle of land at the Capworth Street corner (see fig. 2). The site was negotiated and directed by Peter Moore and supervised by the author.





The site lies in the Archaeological Priority Zone for Leyton High Road and Leyton Green, and an archaeological evaluation was required to comply with an archaeological condition set within the planning application (planning application number 94/0593).





The site is of considerable importance and interest as this was a further opportunity to investigate the development and use of a major medieval road and the settlement along it. Deeply stratified deposits were uncovered at Old Leyton Baths (an area to the north of site 'R') in advance of the new Tesco Store (Douglas 1995), dating from the late-medieval period to the present day. During the medieval period agriculture was the main activity, but there is sufficient pottery and building material spread over the area to suggest the presence of a substantial medieval building in the near vicinity. This building seems to have been demolished around 1500 AD and the site divided into properties which seem to have survived as property demarcations until the 1930's. Various structures were recorded within these properties including pits, wells, soakaways, buildings and surfaces. 





Because the woodstore was a standing 18th century building with, in places, original floor levels, it was likely that at least within this property boundary archaeological stratified deposits might be expected to be preserved, and potentially of a depth and complexity as had been encountered at Old Leyton Baths.





It was therefore decided to confine the evaluation to within the property boundary of the woodstore. The evaluation was carried out on the 10/7/95 and between 24/7/95 and 3/8/95. As a consequence of the evaluation results, and negotiation with the developers, and English Heritage, further archaeological works of a watching brief nature were undertaken over the entire area of site 'R', and a small rescue excavation undertaken within the woodstore. This second phase of work was carried out between the 11/9/95 and 15/9/95.





�
METHOD








To record the standing structure known as the woodstore prior to demolition a photogrammetry survey was undertaken by the East London University Surveying Department. This method of recording the building was undertaken to enable the creation of an accurate digital model of the building, which is tied into the subsequent archaeological excavation and recording of the building footprint, and earlier archaeological deposits, with limited resources. The unsafe structural condition of the building had health and safety implications which meant that access to the building was restricted and the recording of internal structural features strictly limited. However a photographic survey of the accessible parts of the building was undertaken by Walthamstow Photographic Society with the results to be deposited in the photographic archive of Vestry House Museum Walthamstow. A watching brief was then carried out during the demolition of the woodstore so as to record any structural information revealed. Samples of the building materials such as brickwork, chimney pots, roof tile and timber elements were collected to identify and date building elements and to identify any development to the superstructure.





After demolition of the woodstore the site was cleared and cleaned, a ground plan of the building and internal features was recorded and located on a site grid linking the photogrammetry survey to the archaeological record. Two evaluation trenches (TP1 and TP2) were then excavated and recorded (see fig. 3).





There followed a second phase of archaeological works which included a watching brief on the ground reduction work to site formation level. A watching brief was also conducted on the excavation by mechanical excavator of post pad pits (P1 - P15). For two of the post pad pits within the area of the woodstore (P10 and P11) the machine excavation was under archaeological supervision (see fig. 3). 





An archaeological excavation (Trench 3) was carried out between post pad pits P7 and P10 (see fig. 3). The trench was a necessary structural requirement for the developers foundation works.





Whenever archaeological excavation was carried out during this project archaeological deposits and features were exposed, cleaned, excavated by hand, and recorded using the Single Context Planning Method on proforma context sheets, planned at 1:20 on proforma planning sheets, photographed with black and white print and colour slide film, and where appropriate sampled for post-excavation analysis. Trench and post pad pits sections were drawn at 1:10 where appropriate and their position located and planned. The complete archaeological archive will be deposited in Vestry House Museum.


�
PHASE DISCUSSION








PHASE 1 





This phase represents the natural geology across the site, a  silty clay, known as London clay that was probably laid down by alluvial action in the Eocene period (British Geological Survey, 1994).








PHASE 2 





A silty clay sub-soil that was seen across the site was interpreted as a medieval plough soil as it predated the building in phase 3 and contains medieval building material. Further evidence that it might be a plough soil was provided by the discovery in Trench 3 of a probable plough mark on a northwest-southeast alignment. 








PHASE 3 





A possible beam slot was discovered in TP2 but was ephemeral in nature. Its odd alignment (northwest-southeast), i.e. not at right angles to the road, means that this feature can not be interpreted with confidence.





However in Trench 3 a sill beam slot was found, on an east-west alignment with a posthole at the butt end, probably to accommodate a timber upright, and continuing west beyond the edge of excavation. A probable drainage gully running east-west across Trench 3 just to the north of the beam slot was also revealed. It is possible that this gully was associated with the building represented by the sill beam slot (see fig. 4).








PHASE 4





This phase represents the period from circa 1650 until the mid-eighteenth century. Building material identified as medieval peg tile was recovered in Trench 3 and TP1 from the interface between the plough soils, and the horticultural soils. It is probable that some of this peg tile was associated with a building represented by the beam slot and that it was laid down at the time of demolition of the building sometime between 1600 - 1650 as pottery dated to this period was recovered from the backfill of the sill beam slot.





Probable horticultural soils were observed across the site. Pitting probably for the disposal of domestic refuse (see fig 5) took place in the central area of the site; while to the north pitting activity also occurs. The pits in the northern part of the site were only seen in section but the apparent lack of substantial quantities of domestic pottery in these compared to the pits in the central part of the site appears to differentiate them in function. This may indicate the presence of a property boundary between the northern and central parts of the site during this phase. A jetton recovered from the horticultural soil in TP1 gives a date of the late sixteenth to the seventeenth centuries (see SF 37). However pottery recovered from the soils in Trench 3 and TP1 suggest that horticulture continued until at least 1730. A jetton recovered from the top fill of a rubbish pit seen in TP1 (see SF 36), provides a terminus post quem date of 1643, and a terminus post quem date of 1580 for the fill of a rubbish pit seen in Trench 3 was also provided by the find of a further jetton (see SF 50). Pottery analysis confirms that the rubbish pitting probably took place in the seventeenth century. 








PHASE 5





This phase sees the construction and use of a two-storey brick built house and the laying out of an associated back garden at some time during that latter half of the eighteenth century in the central part of the site. The brick foundations to the house indicate a two-up-two-down arrangement of rooms with an extension at the rear (see fig. 6).





Of the two rooms at the front of the house the northern one was probably the living-room where cooking, eating, and day-to-day domestic activities would have taken place. The other room was probably the parlour used for more formal and special occasions. A clue to the interpretation given to these rooms was provided by the relative size of the fireplaces. One would expect the living room to possess the larger fireplace capable of accommodating food preparation and water heating functions. The northern ground floor fireplace was substantially larger than the southern ground floor fireplace. 





Accommodation at the rear of the house was in the form of an “outshot” (Harris 1989, 29) i.e. an extension to the main part of the house. The outshot on the ground floor was divided by a wall which probably separated the scullery or pantry from an ancillary room which housed the staircase. 





Half way between the ground floor and the first floor, there was a landing off which lay a small back bedroom heated by a fireplace and lit by its own window, facing west (see fig. 7). This back bedroom may have been accommodation for a servant. On the first floor the staircase led to a probably enclosed landing off which led two bedrooms heated by their own fireplaces. Interior detail seen and photographed prior to demolition shows that the main bedrooms were fitted out with wood panelled wainscoting to dado rail height. Also each of the two main bedrooms had cupboard space built into the right hand alcoves of the chimney breast. These details are possibly original eighteenth century features.





The house roof had gabled ends with a “cat-slide” (i.e. a roof where the eves are lower at the rear of the building than they are at the front (Harris 1989, 29)), over the outshot. The original roofing material was probably peg-tile (pieces of peg-tile were recovered at the time of demolition from the chimney flue).





The house was provided with a brick-lined drainage system which probably facilitated the removal of waste water away and to the rear of the house. The drains were seen in TP2 (see fig. 6) and in post pad pit P12. 





Garden soil to the rear of the building was probably formed through horticultural action. A fence line was probably erected at some time during this phase and was a garden feature possibly for some horticultural purpose (see fig. 6).





The soils to the north of the house property boundary during this phase were the scene of some pitting activity but their function was indiscernible. The primary activity probably remains horticultural.








PHASE 6





The nineteenth century represented in this phase saw the house continuing to be inhabited, evidenced by repairs carried out to the structure (see fig. 8). A probable repair or replacement to the “parlour” fireplace was evidenced by a backfilled cut to it’s foundation. A possible repair to the floor adjacent to the front wall was also represented by a backfilled cut. Brick plinths were introduced probably to act as joist supports for the ground floor in the front rooms presumably as part of the repair or replacement of the floor. A demolition spread of fragments of brick/tile within the area of the ground floor front rooms was probably laid down at a time of a major repair or refurbishment to the house. A jetton recovered from this layer gave a terminus post quem date of 1772 (see SF 2). A contemporary pit to the rear of the house (seen in TP2) contained demolition debris.





During the latter half of the nineteenth century the northern boundary to the house’s property was delineated conclusively with the construction of a brick wall. The southern property boundary was also delineated with the construction of a property partitioning wall which had an ogee type curve where the height of the wall was reduced. This wall was recorded by photography prior to demolition.





The area to the north of the house was built on during the nineteenth century . A brick foundation was seen in the west facing section of post pad pit 3. This was the only structural element seen in the area to the north of the house but it is likely that other structural remains were truncated by the demolition process. Horticultural soil was seen probably garden soil associated with the nineteenth century structure that occupied the northern property. A cut feature, recorded in post pad pit 1, may be a planting hole and is further evidence for activity of a horticultural nature carried out in the grounds.








PHASE 7





This final phase represents the period from the late-nineteenth century until demolition. The installation of ceramic foul-water drains that probably connected the house’s plumbing system to the municipal sewers was probably undertaken during this phase. A cut feature seen in P10 that truncates the backfill to a ceramic drain but with no discernible function would have been carried out during this period. The deposition of material including fire rake-out, in the backyard of the house property continues until sometime in the twentieth century. Under the floorboards from the time when the floor was repaired (see phase 6) until the twentieth century there was an accumulation of a layer. Ten coins were recovered from this deposit the earliest being a William IV farthing dated 1834 and the latest Elizabeth II sixpence dated 1961.





Concrete plinths possibly bases to upright supports were inserted into the ground, internal to the house, and were probably necessary to hold up the ceiling when the lower building facade was cut out, and the dividing wall between the front rooms removed. It was likely that this would have been done when the house was transformed from a dwelling to a retail DIY/timber store. It may have been during this period of conversion from home to shop, that the rear of the building was extended (see fig. 5), in the process the south wall of the outshot was demolished and the internal wall too may have been destroyed. Curiously the extension used the external wall of the electricity building to the south of the house as it’s southern wall.





The electricity building constructed during this phase truncated all the archaeological deposits in the south of the site.





To the north of the house property, abutting the boundary wall on the northern side, a footpath or drain was installed. The property to the north was also provided with ceramic drains probably for connection to the municipal sewage system. While the installation of a service pipe was probably for water. The building in the northern part of the site was demolished at some time during this phase and replaced with the construction of a warehouse.


�
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION








The archaeological investigation of site ‘R’ revealed a sequence of stratified archaeological deposits from the medieval period until the twentieth century. These deposits could be grouped into seven phases of activity, the first of which is the underlying geology across the site. This was found to be a deposition, probably by alluvial action in the Eocene period, of clay.





The next phase saw the earliest evidence for human activity on the site in the form of plough soils across the site and a plough mark seen in Trench 3. This practising of arable agriculture on the site probably occurred during the medieval period because of the quantities of well turned building material. A single piece of Roman tile was found, as compared to no Roman finds from Old Leyton Baths which had a larger finds collection.





By the late-medieval period a new phase of activity took place when arable agriculture, at least on part of the site, ceased and at least one timber framed structure erected. A sill beam slot and a post-hole were seen and recorded in Trench 3. A drainage gully running parallel but to the north of the structure, east-west across Trench 3 was probably associated with it, and was possibly for run-off from the building itself. This structure was likely to have had a peg-tile roof, but there was no evidence as to what the buildings function may have been. It could have been part of one of the structural elements to a medieval farm, or it could have been part of medieval residential ribbon development along Leyton High Road, spreading north from Low Leyton.





The medieval building went out of use when it was demolished in the early post-medieval period. This may mark a change in ownership and property divisions and certainly there was a change in land-use across the site during this new phase when some form of horticulture took place. Evidence of rubbish pitting in the central part of the site but not in the northern part may indicate that the property plots which survived until the twentieth century had their origins in this phase. The disposal of domestic refuse may also indicate the presence, in the near vicinity, of an early post-medieval dwelling which has yet to be located. The analysis of the building material recovered from the pitting also suggests the construction of new buildings or the maintenance of standing buildings. Cartographic sources confirm substantial buildings in the locality with market-garden plots laid out in the rear (Rocque 1746). This intensification of horticultural activity is a pattern of development not unlike what occurred at Old Leyton Baths in the post-medieval period (Douglas 1995, 17). However archaeological evidence for this building was probably destroyed when Leyton High Road was widened in the late-nineteenth century. Interestingly all the clay pipe, recovered from contexts ascribed to this phase, where the manufactures could be identified were located in the City of London or surrounding suburbs, the furthest east being Whitechapel.





The next phase saw the construction and use of a detached two-storey house, at some time between 1750 and 1777 (Chapman and Andre). To the rear of the building a garden area was laid out. The layout of the house was a two-up-two-down roomed affair with an outshot at the rear to accommodate a scullery or pantry on the ground floor, the staircase, and a third bedroom. The two main ground floor rooms were likely to have been the parlour and the living-room. The living-room would have had the larger fireplace as this was where all the cooking and water heating would have been carried out. During demolition a large brick arched fireplace was photographed, built into the north wall of the house, and the ground plan confirmed that this was the larger of the two ground-floor fireplaces. It is not known whether the living-room fireplace was equipped with a range, but this is a possibility as it is in the late-eighteenth century that the cast-iron range became a characteristic of vernacular kitchen/living rooms (Brunskill 1992, 116). Coal was likely to have been the preferred fuel for the fireplaces as it was coal that made possible the multiplicity of fireplaces in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries (Brunskill 1992, 115). The house had five fireplaces heating both ground-floor rooms and all three bedrooms. The fireplaces were integral features to the original structure of the house and are facets of a fairly well-to-do home.





The two main bedrooms on the first storey were fitted out with wood panelled wainscoting (possibly an original feature) presumably adding to the comfort and status of the rooms and the house in general. The built in cupboard space in the main bedrooms may also have been an original feature. 





In the eighteenth century domestic servants were employed in households of quite modest social standing and the back-bedroom may originally have been for servant accommodation.





The house was also provided with a foul-water disposal system in the form of brick lined drains and probably would have had it’s own water supply in the from of a well located in the rear garden area. The house therefore possessed (for the eighteenth century) many up-to-date and desirable facilities.





Unfortunately the restraints on the scope of the excavation made the exposing and recording of the eighteenth century features at the rear of the building impossible.





The area to the north of the house does not appear to have been residentially developed during the eighteenth century but probably continued to be given over to horticultural production. However it may be that the archaeology recorded in this area represents gardens to the rear of structures which can be seen on maps of the locality for this period (Chapman and Andre 1777). However nineteenth - twentieth century road widening removed many properties in this block from the contemporary road edge.





During the nineteenth century phase repairs to the building, notably the floor and the parlour fireplace, occurred. Brick plinths were introduced in the main ground-floor rooms at this time probably to support a timber floor which may have needed replacing or consolidating. It is not possible to explain the exact nature of the repair to the fireplace but it must have been extensive for evidence to appear in the fireplace foundation. Replacement of the fireplace for function or fashion reasons, however, is a possibility. The boundaries to the house property both north and south were delineated by brick walls which remained as the demarcation of the property until the twentieth century. Cartographic evidence (Tithe map 1838) shows that the house was set back from the contemporary road and that there was a building to the front of the house which may have had a mercantile or industrial function.





The area north of the house in the nineteenth century was probably built on as population growth in the locality increased the pressure for urban development (see Douglas 1995, 19). Cartographic sources indicate the existence of a row of buildings on the site in this area, perhaps functioning as stables, workshops or even small cottages.





During the late-nineteenth century modernisation continued, (to the house and it’s neighbouring properties) with the connection of the house’s and adjacent properties’ drainage to the municipal sewage system. A footpath or drain was constructed abutting the wall on the north side that separates the house property from the property to the north. This may indicate an alley-way between the two properties. Such an alley-way does appear to be shown on an early nineteenth century map for Leyton (Tithe map 1838).





The house continued to be inhabited probably until the twentieth century when it underwent a change of use from a residential property to a retail outlet, Essex Builders Merchants for DIY/timber products. This change of use necessitated drastic alterations to the fabric of what was a rare (at least for Waltham Forest) eighteenth century building. The bottom half of the front facade of the building was cut out to create a shuttered shop front destroying the original doorway and ground floor windows. The partitioning wall on the ground floor was removed, seriously damaging the buildings stability and probably necessitating the erection of posts to support the ceiling. At the rear of the house a modern wall was built extending the back outshot south to the property dividing wall, squaring-off the building. It was likely that these changes to the rear of the premises also contributed to the buildings structural weakness. A second doorway into the rear of the building may have been inserted as part of these changes. The roof was certainly replaced or re-laid with pan-tiles when the modern extension was built. Thus by the late twentieth century an eighteenth century house, one of the few reminders of Leyton’s rural past had been reduced through insensitive and structurally dangerous alterations, and then neglect, to an unsafe shell and an eyesore.
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